
 

COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

DATE: WEDNESDAY, 20 NOVEMBER 
2019 
9.30 AM 
 

VENUE: KING EDMUND CHAMBER - 
ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, 8 
RUSSELL ROAD, IPSWICH 
 

 

Members 

Conservative 
Melanie Barrett 
Peter Beer (Chair) 
Zachary Norman 
Adrian Osborne 

Independent 
Sue Ayres 
John Hinton 
Lee Parker 
Stephen Plumb (Vice-Chair) 
 

Liberal Democrat 
David Busby 

Labour 
Alison Owen 
 
Green 

Leigh Jamieson 

 
This meeting will be broadcast live to Youtube and will be capable of repeated viewing. 
The entirety of the meeting will be filmed except for confidential or exempt items. If you 
attend the meeting in person you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed and 
that the images and sound recordings could be used for webcasting/ training purposes.  
 
The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or 
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.   
 

A G E N D A  
 

PART 1 
MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT 

 Page(s) 

 
1   SUBSTITUTES AND APOLOGIES  

 
Any Member attending as an approved substitute to report giving 
his/her name and the name of the Member being substituted. 
 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
Members to declare any interests as appropriate in respect of items 
to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

3   PL/19/18   TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 
ON 6 NOVEMBER 2019  
 
To follow. 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



4   TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME  
 

 

5   SITE INSPECTIONS  
 
In addition to any site inspections which the Committee may 
consider to be necessary, the Acting Chief Planning Officer will 
report on any other applications which require site inspections.  
 
The provisional date for any site inspections is Wednesday 27 
November 2019.  
 

 

6   PL/19/19  PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY 
THE COMMITTEE  
 
An Addendum to Paper PL/19/19 will be circulated to Members prior 
to the commencement of the meeting summarising additional 
correspondence received since the publication of the agenda but 
before 12 noon on the working day before the meeting, together with 
any errata. 
 

5 - 8 

a   DC/19/04105 LAND WEST OF BRANTHAM HILL, BRANTHAM, 
CO11 1ST  

9 - 40 

 
 
b   DC/19/03185 LAND SOUTH OF HOWLETT OF LAVENHAM, 

MELFORD ROAD, LAVENHAM, SUFFOLK, CO10 9SG  
41 - 54 

 
 
c   DC/19/03614 THE FIRS, WALDINGFIELD ROAD, SUDBURY, 

SUFFOLK, CO10 2PY  
55 - 62 

 
 

Notes:  
 

1. The next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday 4 December 2019 commencing at 9.30 a.m. 

 
2. Where it is not expedient for plans and drawings of the proposals under consideration to be 

shown on the power point, these will be displayed in the Council Chamber prior to the 

meeting. 

 
3. The Council has adopted Public Speaking Arrangements at Planning Committees, a link is 

provided below: 

 
Public Speaking Arrangements 

 
Those persons wishing to speak on an application to be decided by Planning Committee 
must register their interest to speak no later than two clear working days before the 
Committee meeting, as detailed in the Public Speaking Arrangements (adopted 30 
November 2016). 

Page 2

https://baberghmidsuffolk.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s14783/BDC%20Constitution-Part%206-Public%20Speaking%20Arrangements%20ADOPTED%2030-11-2016.pdf


 
The registered speakers will be invited by the Chairman to speak when the relevant item is 
under consideration.  This will be done in the following order:   
 

 A representative of the Parish Council in whose area the application site is located to express 

the views of the Parish Council; 

 An objector; 

 A supporter; 

 The applicant or professional agent / representative; 

 County Council Division Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee on matters 

pertaining solely to County Council issues such as highways / education; 

 Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee. 

 Public speakers in each capacity will normally be allowed 3 minutes to speak. 

 
Local Ward Member(s) who is (are) not a member of the Committee are allocated a 
maximum of 5 minutes to speak. 
 
Date and Time of next meeting 
 
Please note that the next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, 4 December 2019 at 9.30 
am. 
 
Webcasting/ Live Streaming 
 
The Webcast of the meeting will be available to view on the Councils Youtube page: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg  
 
For more information about this meeting, including access arrangements and facilities for 
people with disabilities, please contact the Committee Officer Robert Carmichael, 
Committee Services on: 01449 724930 or Email: Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk  
 
 

 
 

Page 3

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCSWf_0D13zmegAf5Qv_aZSg
mailto:Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk


 

Introduction to Public Meetings 
 

Babergh/Mid Suffolk District Councils are committed to Open Government.  The 
proceedings of this meeting are open to the public, apart from any confidential or exempt 
items which may have to be considered in the absence of the press and public. 
 
 

 
Domestic Arrangements: 
 

 Toilets are situated opposite the meeting room. 

 Cold water is also available outside opposite the room. 

 Please switch off all mobile phones or turn them to silent. 
 

 
Evacuating the building in an emergency:  Information for Visitors: 
 
If you hear the alarm: 
 
1. Leave the building immediately via a Fire Exit and make your way to the Assembly 

Point (Ipswich Town Football Ground). 
 
2. Follow the signs directing you to the Fire Exits at each end of the floor. 
 
3. Do not enter the Atrium (Ground Floor area and walkways).  If you are in the Atrium 

at the time of the Alarm, follow the signs to the nearest Fire Exit. 
 
4. Use the stairs, not the lifts. 
 
5. Do not re-enter the building until told it is safe to do so. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 4



Planning Committee 
 20 November  2019 

 
 
 

         PL/19/19 
 

 
 

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

20 NOVEMBER 2019 
 

SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE 
 

Item Page 
No. 

Application No. Location Officer 

6A 9-40 DC/19/04105 
Land West of Brantham Hillm 

Brantham, CO11 1ST 
SS 

6B 41-54 DC/19/03185 

Land South of Howlett of 

Lavenham, Melford Road, 

Lavenham, Suffolk, CO10 9SG 

JW 

6C 55-62 DC/19/03614 
The Firs, Waldingfield Road, 

Sudbury, Suffolk, CO10 2PY 
LB 

 
 
 
Philip Isbell 
Chief Planning Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



Planning Committee 
 20 November  2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS MADE UNDER THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 
1990, AND ASSOCIATED LEGISLATION, FOR DETERMINATION OR RECOMMENDATION BY 
THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
This Schedule contains proposals for development which, in the opinion of the Acting Chief Planning 
Officer, do not come within the scope of the Scheme of Delegation to Officers adopted by the Council 
or which, although coming within the scope of that scheme, she/he has referred to the Committee to 
determine. 
 
Background Papers in respect of all of the items contained in this Schedule of Applications are: 
 
1.  The particular planning, listed building or other application or notification (the reference 

number of which is shown in brackets after the description of the location). 
 
2.  Any documents containing supplementary or explanatory material submitted with the 

application or subsequently. 
 
3.  Any documents relating to suggestions as to modifications or amendments to the application 

and any documents containing such modifications or amendments. 
 
4.  Documents relating to responses to the consultations, notifications and publicity both 

statutory and non-statutory as contained on the case file together with any previous planning 
decisions referred to in the Schedule item. 

 
DELEGATION TO THE ACTING CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER 
 
The delegated powers under Minute No 48(a) of the Council (dated 19 October 2004) includes the 
power to determine the conditions to be imposed upon any grant of planning permission, listed 
building consent, conservation area consent or advertisement consent and the reasons for those 
conditions or the reasons to be imposed on any refusal in addition to any conditions and/or reasons 
specifically resolved by the Planning Committee. 
 
PLANNING POLICIES 
 
The Development Plan comprises saved polices in the Babergh Local Plan adopted June 2006.  The 
reports in this paper contain references to the relevant documents and policies which can be viewed 
at the following addresses: 

 
The Babergh Local Plan:  http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-
documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/ 
 
National Planning Policy Framework: 
 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf  

  

Page 6

http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.babergh.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/adopted-documents/babergh-district-council/babergh-local-plan/
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/2116950.pdf


Planning Committee 
 20 November  2019 

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
AWS Anglian Water Services 
 
CFO County Fire Officer 
 
LHA Local Highway Authority 

EA Environment Agency 

EH English Heritage 

NE Natural England 

HSE Health and Safety Executive 

MoD Ministry of Defence 

PC Parish Council 

PM Parish Meeting 

SPS Suffolk Preservation Society 

SWT Suffolk Wildlife Trust 

TC Town Council 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Committee Report   

Ward: Brantham   

Ward Member/s: Cllr Alastair McCraw 

    

 

RECOMMENDATION – REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION 

 

 

Description of Development 

Outline Planning Application (some matters reserved – site access to be considered) - Erection of 

up to 150 dwellings, use of land for community facilities, public open space, landscaping, a 

sustainable drainage system (SuDS), and vehicular access point from Brantham Hill (following 

demolition of existing bungalow and outbuildings). 

 

Location 

Land West Of Brantham Hill, Brantham CO11 1ST 

 

Expiry Date: 02/12/2019 

Application Type: Outline Planning Application 

Development Type: Major Dwellings 

Applicant: Gladman Developments Ltd 

 

Parish: Brantham   

Site Area: 9.36 hectares (proposed residential built area 4.3ha) 

 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 

1. The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 

 

i. It is a major application for a residential development of 15 or more dwellings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 6A Reference: DC/19/04105 
Case Officer: Steven Stroud 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6a



 

 

 

PART TWO – APPLICATION BACKGROUND AND DETAILS  
 

 

Site and Surroundings 

 

2. The site comprises 9.36ha of predominantly agricultural, rising land to the west of Brantham 

Hill, Brantham. The eastern boundary of the site as it meets Brantham Hill includes an 

existing dwelling and a number of outbuildings, proposed to be demolished to facilitate the 

development. This area falls within the built-up area boundary (“BUAB”) of Brantham; 

however, for practical purposes the development site is outside of and abutting the BUAB, 

with only the access point and proposed community land use area falling within. 

 

3. Brantham Hill is the main vehicular route through and around the village and connects Essex 

to Suffolk; Manningtree to Ipswich. Manningtree railway station is approximately 2.5km from 

the site and the centre of East Bergholt is 5km away. Brantham is designated as a Hinterland 

village within the Core Strategy where it is expected that such villages will accommodate 

some development to help meet the needs within them. Brantham holds a range of services 

and facilities including a Coop food store, primary school, veterinary surgery, and 

pubs/restaurants. 

 
4. Members will recall that they recently approved the reserved matters for a development of 

288 dwellings at land south of Brooklands Road, within the village. The developer, Taylor 

Wimpey, has agreed a statement of common ground with the Council in respect of that site 

with dwellings expected to be delivered from 2020 onwards. The supply of homes to be 

provided by that development has been accounted for in the Council’s recent annual housing 

land supply position statement1. 

 
5. Public Rights of Way (“PRoW”, including footpath/bridleway nos. 1, 2, 17, 18, 19, and 20) 

run adjacent to, or in proximity of, the site. A further footpath – non-designated – runs 

adjacent to the northern site boundary. The site is not within or adjacent to a Conservation 

Area and no designated heritage assets would be materially affected by the development 

proposed. The site is wholly within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability (less 

than 1 in 1000 annually) of flooding. 

 
6. The site is not within or adjacent to a Special Landscape Area. However, the landscape is 

nevertheless considered to be of value and the site abuts the eastern edge of the Dedham 

Vale (“DV”) Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (“AONB”) on its western boundary. It is also 

close to the western edge of the Suffolk Coast and Heaths (“SCH”) AONB. 

 

                                                           
1 Available at: https://www.midsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Strategic-Planning/AMR/Babergh-District-Council-Housing-Land-Supply-
Position-Statement-Sep-2019.pdf 

Page 10



 

 

7. It is understood that an Order to vary the extent of the SCH AONB designation presently 

rests for sign-off with the Secretary of State. It is reasonably foreseeable that the Order will 

be approved and the consequence of that will be for the SCH AONB to have its boundaries 

extended such that it will fall within a much closer proximity to the application site on both its 

eastern and northern boundaries. A representation of those expected boundary changes is 

presented below (existing DV AONB in yellow; SCH AONB bordered in red with extension 

bordered in purple; application site, starred) . The extension is a material consideration but 

for sake of caution this application has in any event been considered based upon the AONBs 

as currently designated. 

 

 

 

Proposal 

 

8. The Applicant seeks outline planning permission for a residential development of up to 150 

dwellings with associated infrastructure and an area of land reserved for community uses, 

Page 11



 

 

alongside public open space and landscaping. Specifically, across the 9.36 site area it 

includes the following: 

 

- Demolition of Brookland Farm Bungalow and associated outbuildings; 

- Up to 150 residential dwellings across 4.3ha (including 35% affordable housing); 

- Vehicular access from/to Brantham Hill (0.03ha); 

- 0.1ha of land for community use/facilities; and 

- 4.93ha of green infrastructure, including new structural landscape 

planting/management and reinforcement of existing landscape, public open space, 

sustainable drainage system (“SuDS”) (0.75ha), and play area (0.14ha). 

 

9. As an outline application, detailed matters relating to access (in so far as internal circulation 

routes are concerned), layout, appearance, scale, and landscaping are reserved for formal 

determination at a later date. Where all matters save for access into the site are reserved, 

Members are tasked with considering the acceptability of the principle of the development 

applied for, alongside the suitability of highway access from Brantham Hill which is included 

in the application for detailed approval. 

 

10. To support the application, a Development Framework (“DF”) plan has been provided and 

which has not been labelled as being for illustrative or indicative purposes only. In such 

circumstances, the national Planning Practice Guidance (“PPG”) advises that the Council 

must treat those details as being part of the development in respect of which the application 

is being made2. Even where the DF is taken as being purely illustrative it is no less important 

that the application demonstrate how the development being applied for can appropriately 

respond to its situational context. 

 
11. The DF demonstrates a site of two approximate halves: residential development to the east, 

and a landscape buffer between that development and the DV AONB to the west, with 

proposed connections to the footpath and PRoW adjacent to the site. Whilst it is unclear 

precisely what community use or facility is intended to be accommodated in the allocated 

area, that land is located to the east of the site near to the vehicular access and the Brantham 

Hill frontage. 

 
12. The application is supported by a suite of documents and plans, including: 

 
- Development Framework plan; 

- Design and Access Statement; 

- Planning Statement; 

- Transport Assessment (and updated Technical Note); 

- Landscape and Visual Assessment; 

                                                           
2‘Making an Application’ – Paragraph: 035, Reference ID: 14-035-20140306. 

Page 12



 

 

- Ecological Appraisal and surveys; 

- Flood Risk Assessment; 

- Policy CS11 and CS15 Compliance Statement; and 

- Various other environmental assessments (noise, air quality, etc.). 

 
13. The application plans and documents (including consultation responses and third-party 

representations) can be viewed online3. Alternatively, copies are available to view at the 

Council offices4. 

 
 

 

PART THREE – CONSULTATION 
 

 
 
14. All of those most recent or relevant responses received prior to the completion of this report 

are summarised below, which includes public representations and consultation responses. 

Nevertheless, all responses received are available to view on the Council’s website and at 

its offices. Members are advised to consider them in full. 

 

15. Any further responses or representations will be reported through the late papers 

“Addendum” function and/or verbally to Members at Planning Committee. 

 
Consultee Responses 

 

Brantham Parish Council 

 
16. Objects: contrary to policy; concern over access; harm to AONBs; loss of quality agricultural 

land. 

 

East Bergholt Parish Council 

 

17. Objects: contrary to policy/neighbourhood plan; harm to AONBs; poor transport links; 

infrastructure concerns. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
3 Available at: https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/. 
4 Details of addresses and opening times are available at: https://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us. 

Page 13

https://planning.baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://www.babergh.gov.uk/contact-us


 

 

Suffolk County Council (“SCC”) – Development Contributions 

 

18. Comments: contributions required to mitigate the infrastructural impacts of the development, 

to be addressed by the Community Infrastructure Levy (“CIL”). Potential highway mitigation 

is currently unknown. 

 

SCC – Local Highway Authority 

 

19. Objects: Transport Assessment is deficient; access is deficient; travel plan is deficient. 

 

SCC – Lead Local Flood Authority 

 

20. Objects: while the applicant has provided an assessment of the predicted flood risk, there is 

insufficient information regarding a strategy for the disposal of surface water and the required 

storage volume required of the system. 

 

SCC – Archaeology 

 

21. Objects: insufficient information to understand the likely impacts of the development given 

the high potential for archaeological remains being present. 

 

Essex County Council 

 

22. No objection on educational issues; requests to be updated on progression of 

development/any subsequent appeal. 

 

Babergh District Council (“BDC”) – Heritage 

 

23. No objection: unlikely to impact upon the significance of any heritage assets. 

 

BDC – Planning Policy and Infrastructure 

 

24. Objects: harm to AONB; harm to farming business; divergent from emerging Plan. 

 

BDC – Public Realm 

 

25. No objection: the inclusion of a large area of public open space, local play area and 

improvements to the local wildlife corridors associated with the development are welcome. 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

 

BDC – Strategic Housing 

 

26. Comments: 35% affordable housing is required and a condition should be imposed upon any 

planning permission granted to ensure an appropriate mix of housing is secured. 

 

BDC – Ecology (Place Services) 

 

27. Holding objection due to insufficient information on protected and priority species. 

 

BDC – Landscape (Place Services) 

 

28. Objects: Proposed mitigation/landscaping would not successfully reduce the harm to AONB 

setting; affects tranquillity; proposed green infrastructure is not well integrated; illogical 

extension to village. 

 

AONB Project Board (Dedham Vale and Stour Valley) 

 

29. Objects: The proposal represents a major development within the setting of the DV/SCH 

AONBs; adversely affects DV AONB tranquillity; contrary to emerging Plan; exceeds local 

need: 

 

‘Given the sites location relative to the Dedham Vale AONB particularly, the proposal 

has the potential to impact on tranquillity which is one of the AONB natural beauty 

indicators, through increased lighting and noise as it will extend the built edge of 

Brantham close to the AONB boundary. The proposal would also significantly and 

permanently alter the landscape character on the western edge of Brantham Hill 

from agricultural to residential. The fields to the west of Brantham Hill provide an 

important green buffer between the ribbon development along the western side of 

the A137 and the Dedham Vale AONB. They also provide an important setting 

function for Brantham Village on the west side of the A137. As such the proposal 

has the potential to reduce and undermine the setting function provided the 

agricultural land between the village and the AONB thereby altering the sense of 

place.’ 

 

Anglian Water 

 

30. Comments/No objection: there is capacity within the local network to accept foul water. 

 

NHS – Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

31. Comments: CIL contributions are required to mitigate the impact of the development. 

Page 15



 

 

 

Natural England 

 

32. Comments: Further information is required to determine impacts upon the Stour and Orwell 

Estuaries Special Protection Area. 

 

Representations 

 

33. Other representations received are summarised as follows: 

 

- Landscape harm/harm to AONB; 

- Insufficient capacity within the local highway network/junction impacts; 

- Highway safety concern/access is deficient; 

- Lack of local infrastructure to support the development; 

- Too many houses/local needs already met; 

- Reduction in property values; 

- Harm to ecology/biodiversity; 

- Flooding concern; 

- Loss of quality farmland; 

- Outside of settlement boundary; 

- No guarantee of affordable housing. 

 
 

 

PART FOUR – POLICY FRAMEWORK AND ASSESSMENT  
 

 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 

34. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires, in dealing with an 

application for planning permission, a local planning authority to have regard to the 

provisions of the development plan, so far as is material to the application, and to any other 

material considerations. 

 

35. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications 

for planning permission under the planning Acts be determined in accordance with the 

development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

The Development Plan 

 

36. Relevant to this application the statutory development plan comprises the following: 

 

Page 16



 

 

- Babergh Local Plan 2011-2031 Core Strategy (2014) 

- saved policies from the Babergh Local Plan Alteration no.2 (2006) 

 

37. From the development plan relevant policies engaged by this outline planning application 

include: 

 

- CS1 – Applying the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

- CS2 – Settlement Pattern Policy 

- CS11 – Strategy for Development for Core and Hinterland Villages 

- CS14 – Green Infrastructure 

- CS15 – Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh 

- CS18 – Mix and Types of Dwellings 

- CS19 – Affordable Homes 

- CS21 – Infrastructure Provision 

- HS31 – Public Open Space 

 

38. Having regard to the application and the nature of the development proposed, alongside the 

locational context and responses received through consultation, and the key issues identified 

(subsequently explored in this report), the most important policies for the determination of 

the application are considered to be: 

 

- CS1 – Applying the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

- CS2 – Settlement Pattern Policy 

- CS11 – Strategy for Development for Core and Hinterland Villages 

- CS14 – Green Infrastructure 

- CS15 – Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh 

 

39. With the exception of policy CS2, as will be explained, it is considered that Members can 

and should apply a full weighting to each of those most important policies. 

 

40. Also relevant to this application, the development plan is supported by the Rural 

Development and Core Strategy Policy CS11 supplementary planning document (“CS11 

SPD”), adopted for decision-taking purposes in August 2014 and which was produced to 

provide guidance on the interpretation and application of Policy CS11. The CS11 SPD is not 

part of the statutory development plan; however, it is nevertheless an important material 

consideration informed through consultation and has been democratically approved. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

 

The Joint Local Plan 

 

41. The Council is in the course of preparing a new Joint Local Plan (“JLP”) with the Mid Suffolk 

District Council which will replace the Core Strategy and saved 2006 Local Plan policies and 

will be used to manage development in both districts up to 2036. The Councils recently 

published the JLP for consultation (Regulation 18) which closed on 30th September 2019. 

 

42. The closer a plan comes to being adopted, the greater the weight that can be afforded to it 

(but also dependant on the degree of objections to it). The emerging Plan is in its very early 

stages and it is afforded a limited weighting such that it plays no determinative role in this 

assessment. 

 

The East Bergholt Neighbourhood Plan 

 

43. While the comments of the East Bergholt Parish Council are noted and are of importance, it 

is not considered that this application expressly engages the policies of that neighbourhood 

development plan where the application site falls outside of the designated area. 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework 

 

44. The National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”) sets out the Government’s planning 

policies for England and how they should be applied. It is a material consideration for 

decision-taking purposes and can affect the weight to attach to policies of the development 

plan. It cannot, however, alter whether there is a conflict with the development plan nor 

undermine the statutory primacy that a development plan holds. 

 

45. For the purposes of taking decisions, the policies of the NPPF should be considered as a 

whole. However, the following are of particular and direct relevance to this application: 

 

- Paragraphs 8 and 9 (achieving sustainable development) 

- Paragraphs 11 and 12 (the presumption in favour of sustainable development) 

- Paragraph 77 (rural housing) 

- Paragraph 98 (open space and recreation) 

- Paragraphs 108, 109, and 111 (promoting sustainable transport) 

- Paragraph 127 (achieving well-designed places) 

- Paragraphs 163 and 165 (planning and flood risk) 

- Section 15 (conserving and enhancing the natural environment) 

- Paragraph 189 (proposals affecting heritage assets) 

- Paragraph 213 (annex 1: implementation) 

 

Page 18



 

 

46. The NPPF is supported and complemented by the PPG. The guidance provided by the PPG 

is advice on procedure rather than explicit policy and is an online reference as a living 

document. It too is an important material consideration alongside the NPPF. 

 

47. The operation known as the “tilted balance” (under paragraph 11d of the NPPF and Policy 

CS1) engages where the most important policies for determining an application are out of 

date. This does not apply here: the Council can demonstrate a deliverable housing land 

supply of 5.67 years and taken in the round the most important policies for determining the 

application are up to date. 

 

48. Paragraph 213 states that existing policies should not be considered out of date simply 

because they were adopted prior to the 2019 iteration of the NPPF. It goes on to state that 

‘due weight should be given to [development plan policies], according to their degree of 

consistency with this Framework’. 

 

49. Policies CS1, CS11, CS14, and CS15 are all considered to be fully consistent with the NPPF 

and are given full weight. 

 

50. Policy CS2 has previously been found to be consistent with national policy; hence, forming 

part of the Core Strategy as a post-2012 NPPF development plan document. It provides a 

strategy for the distribution of development that is appropriate in recognising local 

circumstances and its overall strategy remains sound. However, in the absence of an 

allocations document and settlement boundaries review (which has been absent  for several 

years but has in practice been overtaken by the preparation of the emerging JLP) it should 

be afforded less than full weight. This is also the case because national policy continues to 

require that policies are tested for their consistency with the NPPF: the ‘exceptional 

circumstances’ threshold is not entirely consistent with the NPPF and this has been 

recognised repeatedly in appeal decisions following the most recent NPPF publication5. 

 

51. While a lesser weight is given to policy CS2 its place within the development plan cannot be 

supplanted, however. 

 

52. As will be set out, the application falls to be determined and refused in accordance with the 

development plan as there are no material considerations that would indicate Members 

should take a decision other than in accordance with that direction. 

 

 

 

                                                           
5 See, for example, appeal refs: 3219950; 3222941; 3229105; 3211347. 

Page 19



 

 

ASSESSMENT 

 

53. Taking the above into account, what now follows is an assessment of the application and in 

respect of the key issues that have been identified (with most important policies applicable), 

as follows: 

 

- The Principle of Development (Policies CS2 and CS11); 

- Effect on Landscape, Context, and Character (Policies CS11, CS14, and CS15); 

- Highway Impacts: Access and Capacity (Policies CS11 and CS15); 

- Archaeology (Policies CS11 and CS15); 

- Flood Risk (Policies CS11 and CS15); and 

- Ecology (Policies CS11 and CS15). 

 

The Principle of Development (Policies CS2 and CS11) 

 

54. The relevant local policy context is not one that is expressly prohibitive of development. This 

is a well-established position given the fact planning permissions for housing on greenfield 

sites outside of settlement boundaries across the district have been variously granted by 

Council. 

 

55. Policy CS2 states that outside of a settlement boundary ‘development will only be permitted 

in exceptional circumstances subject to a proven justifiable need’. For all intent and purpose 

(certainly in relation to the residential aspects of the development for which permission is 

primarily sought) the site is outside of the settlement boundary/Brantham BUAB and 

therefore the policy is engaged. It is a key factor in determining the in-principle acceptability 

of the application. 

 

56. Policy CS11 is of similar importance. Subject to specified criteria, it supports development 

beyond the existing BUAB of Core and Hinterland villages. In common with policy CS2, for 

Hinterland villages it states that development will be approved where (among other things) 

the Council is satisfied that the issue of locally identified need [for housing and specific local 

needs such as affordable housing] has been addressed. The policy is clear that all proposals 

for development in Hinterland villages must demonstrate how they meet all of the specified 

criteria. 

  

57. The proper interpretation of planning policy is a matter of law. The meaning of “locally 

identified need” for housing, as a criterion of policy CS11, has been considered by the High 

Court (the “Bergholt judgment”)6. Taking that into account, locally identified housing need is 

considered to encompass the needs of a village and its functional cluster, and perhaps in 

areas immediately adjoining it. 

                                                           
6 R (on the application of East Bergholt PC) v Babergh DC [2016] EWHC 3400 (Admin). 

Page 20



 

 

 

58. As an application for up to 150 new dwellings in a Hinterland village, it is incumbent upon 

the Applicant to provide evidence to meet that test. Such a requirement is explained further 

within the CS11 SPD, which states: 

 

‘... Developers should therefore set out how the proposal meets these locally 

identified needs. This should include an analysis of the number and types of dwelling 

in the village, an assessment the need for housing in the village and the identification 

of any gaps in provision. Proposals should provide affordable housing in accordance 

with Policy CS19. Proposals should therefore be accompanied by a statement that 

analyses the local housing, employment and community needs of the village and 

how they have been taken into account in the proposal. It is anticipated that such 

statements should be prepared in consultation with the Council using evidence from 

a number of sources.’ 

 

59. The application is supported by a CS11 and CS15 Compliance Statement but in respect of 

“locally identified [housing and specific local needs such as affordable housing] need” that 

document falls far short of meeting the policy test or following the guidance within the SPD. 

It merely states that there is a general need for market and affordable housing against a 

context (now dated) of the Council not being able to demonstrate a five-year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. It does not engage with local circumstances bearing in mind the 

definition above and overlooks the deliverable permissions for 288 dwellings at Brooklands 

Road, Brantham and 144 dwellings at Moores Lane, East Bergholt with no consideration as 

to how the proposed development fits in with any perceived need on a cumulative basis, 

accounting for other development within the East Bergholt functional cluster. 

 

60. NPPF para 77 states: ‘In rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be responsive 

to local circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local needs’. As with 

the policy CS11 requirement, it has not been proved by the Applicant how this proposal 

would accord with national policy bearing in mind the local circumstances applicable. 

 

61. The Bergholt judgment has been clear that in respect of the relationship between policies 

CS2 and CS11, for developments outside of BUAB if there is to be compliance with policy 

CS2 then there must be both a proven justifiable need and exceptional circumstances; 

compliance with the requirements of policy CS11 might assist the Council with being satisfied 

in that respect but it does not override the requirement to meet them. 

 

62. In respect of the application before Members, there are no exceptional circumstances in 

favour of a grant of permission. The burden of showing that there is a local need for 150 new 

dwellings falls squarely on the Applicant and no cogent evidence to demonstrate that there 

is a need for the development has been provided. Manifestly, there is a clear breach of both 

Page 21



 

 

policies CS2 and CS11, two of the most important policies for the determination of the 

application and certainly as appurtenant to the principle of residential development in the 

location proposed. 

 

63. The lack of exceptional circumstances or justified need for the development weighs against 

a grant of permission even where a lesser weighting is afforded to Policy CS2; the 

development clearly conflicts with that policy. 

 

64. For the reasons set out, the application has failed to satisfy policy CS2 not least because it 

does not demonstrate a proven justifiable need and for that reason it also cannot find favour 

under policy CS11 which is the policy that would otherwise provide flexibility in the 

circumstances of a development for a Hinterland village. 

 

65. Nevertheless, and for completeness, this section will now consider the other criteria of Policy 

CS11 and how they are addressed by the application. Such considerations have been 

informed by the guidance contained within the CS11 SPD: 

 

i. The landscape, environmental and heritage characteristics of the village 

There are no issues in relation to built heritage impacts; however, archaeological 

matters are of concern. Landscape and related environmental matters including 

archaeology are considered in subsequent sections; the application fails to satisfy this 

criterion. 

 

ii. The locational context of the village and the proposed development (particularly the 

AONBs, Conservation Areas, and heritage assets) 

This is considered in the next section; the application fails to satisfy this criterion. 

 

iii. Site location and sequential approach to site selection 

The Applicant maintains that the site/development is available and achievable. This 

committee report tests its suitability. 

 

Technically the site straddles the BUAB albeit the development is effectively sited 

outside of it. However, the acceptability of the development in relation to this criterion 

does not turn on whether or not the site is within the BUAB. The site is considered to 

be reasonably connected to the amenities of Brantham and the services and facilities 

within the village could be accessible by foot and cycle in pure distance terms (though 

it is unclear the extent to which any improvements would need to be made to make 

such soft-mode journeys more attractive; see the subsequent Highways section). 

 

There are no sequentially preferable allocated sites that are available in Brantham, 

nor are there any sites within the BUAB that would enable a development of 

Page 22



 

 

commensurate scale. The proposed allocation within the JLP7 is noted; however, this 

remains untested and the JLP is afforded a limited weighting. Nevertheless it is not at 

a scale commensurate with the development proposed. 

 

It could be said that there is a sequentially preferable site for development within the 

BUAB that is both suitable and deliverable. That is the site at Brooklands Road but 

this is already subject to planning permission, is controlled by Taylor Wimpey, and 

development is due to commence imminently. It is therefore not, strictly speaking, 

available when considering the present application. The “need” for the proposed 

development when considered alongside that permitted scheme has been considered 

in accordance with CS11 criterion iv. 

 

The Bergholt judgment clarified that in relation to sequential assessment there is no 

requirement to look at alternative sites adjoining the built up area boundary, as 

sequentially they are within the same tier. 

 

In the absence of any sites within the BUAB and no requirement to consider other 

sites outside the BUAB where the application site adjoins it, the proposal accords with 

this element of Policy CS11. 

 

iv. Locally identified need – housing and employment, and specific local needs such as 

affordable housing 

As above, this criterion is not satisfied. 

 

v. Locally identified community needs 

The CS11 SPD identifies that proposals should be accompanied by a statement that 

analyses the community needs of the village and how they have been taken into 

account in the proposal. The application is not supported by a needs assessment but 

proposes an area of land for community uses. The extent to which this represents a 

realistic and feasible option is unclear and the need that such land is intended to 

satisfy is unknown. 

 

Regardless, the proposal will generate contributions towards community 

infrastructure, to be spent on local services and infrastructure, therefore supporting 

rural communities, local services and facilities. In this regard, despite the absence of 

the needs assessment, the proposal delivers benefits through CIL that are considered 

to satisfy this element of policy CS11. The absence of a supporting needs 

assessment, whilst not weighing in favour of the application, is not fatal to it. 

 

                                                           
7 LA053: Land South of Ipswich Road, Brantham (30 dwellings). Whilst the JLP is afforded a limited weighing it is notable that 
this is the only growth anticipated within the new plan period, to 2036. 

Page 23



 

 

vi. Cumulative impact of development in the area in respect of social, physical, and 

environmental impacts 

Comments received have been critical of the strain that the development would place 

on local services, in particular education and health infrastructure. However, there is 

no technical evidence before officers to suggest the scheme would result in an 

unacceptable cumulative impact on the area in the context of such impacts; or, rather, 

it has not been evidenced that without an appropriate mitigating mechanism there will 

be an unacceptable infrastructural burden. 

 

There is no denying that a 150-dwelling development would generate increased 

infrastructure demand. However, as per well-established practice, CIL contributions 

are expected to be used to ensure existing infrastructure capacity is supported to 

accommodate additional demand. This approach is consistent with that promoted 

within policy CS11, which states: 

 

‘Proposals for both core and hinterland villages will need to demonstrate that 

the development can be accommodated without adversely affecting the 

character of the village and that the services, facilities and infrastructure have 

the capacity to accommodate it or will be enhanced to accommodate it.’ 

 

So where strain does occur, it will be addressed by the appropriate infrastructure 

authorities who will be well funded to undertake the necessary works, for example 

new/expanded health and/or education facilities. Additional infrastructure requirement 

is a consequence of the development, but it is not an adverse social, physical or 

environmental impact. It must also be noted that none of the infrastructure authorities 

have objected to the scheme, with all concluding that CIL contributions are to be used 

to manage future infrastructure demand. 

 

However, concerns raised in relation to potential highway impacts are shared; this 

aspect is treated separately in a separate section of this report. Due to those concerns 

this criterion of policy CS11 is not satisfied. 

 

Further criteria 

And due to the Hinterland location, that the proposed development should be: 

 

i. Well designed and appropriate in size/scale, layout and character to its setting and to 

the village 

This is considered in the next section; the application fails to satisfy this criterion. 

 

ii. Is adjacent or well related to the existing pattern of development for that settlement 

This is considered in the next section; the application fails to satisfy this criterion. 

Page 24



 

 

 

iii. Meets a proven local need, such as affordable housing or targeted market housing 

identified in an adopted community local plan/neighbourhood plan 

As above, this criterion is not satisfied. 

 

iv. Supports local services and/or creates or expands employment opportunities 

While the proposal is unlikely to directly create or expand employment opportunities 

of itself (the final use of the community land being unknown), it would not hinder or 

prejudice them. Bearing in mind the accessibility of the site to nearby services and 

facilities it is likely that the future occupiers would support local services. 

 

v. Does not compromise the delivery of permitted or identified schemes in adopted 

community/village local plans within the same functional cluster 

The only made village local plan within the functional cluster is the East Bergholt 

Neighbourhood Plan; it contains no site allocations. An approval of this application 

would not compromise the delivery of permissions within that village, the village of 

Brantham, or the wider functional cluster. 

 

66. Having regard for the above the application fails to satisfy criteria i., ii., iv., vi., of the main 

policy and i., ii., and iii. of the Hinterland criteria. 

 

67. Policy CS11 also requires that proposals score positively when judged against policy CS15. 

Policy CS15 is a long and wide-ranging, criteria based policy, setting out how the Council 

will seek to implement sustainable development; not every proposal engages every criterion 

and this is true of the current application. Bearing in mind the key issues that have been 

identified, the applicable elements are now considered under the subsequent sections of this 

report. It will be demonstrated that the application does not, overall, score positively when 

considered against policy CS15. 

 

Effect on Landscape, Context and Character (Policies CS11, CS14, and CS15) 

 

68. Due to the length of this section it comprises two parts: ‘policy and context’ and ‘assessment’. 

 

Policy and Context 

 

69. With regard to this key issue, for an application to comply with policy CS11 Members must 

be satisfied that it addresses the issues listed under criteria i. and ii. (of both parts of CS11). 

Furthermore, among other things policy CS15 states that development proposals must 

respect local context and the landscape as well as making a positive contribution to local 

character, shape, and scale of the area. 

 

Page 25



 

 

70. Policy CS14 is clear that existing green infrastructure will be protected and enhanced and in 

new developments it is a key consideration, with particular attention needing to be paid to 

ensuring new provision establishes links with existing green infrastructure. 

 
71. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF states that: ‘planning policies and decisions should protect and 

enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide better 

facilities for users, for example by adding links to existing rights of way networks…’. 

 
72. Paragraph 127 forms part of a section of planning policies that seek to achieve well-designed 

places. It states that planning decisions should ensure that developments, among other 

things: 

 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 

effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 

spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 

distinctive places to live, work and visit. 

 
73. Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 

and local environment by, among other things: 

 

a) ‘protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological 

value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or 

identified quality in the development plan); 

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider 

benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic 

and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees 

and woodland.’ 

 
74. Paragraph 172 of the NPPF applies to land within designated areas such as AONB. As the 

application site is outside of the AONB, the requirements of this policy paragraph are not 

engaged. 

 

75. Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 requires that ‘…in exercising or 

performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in an area of outstanding 

natural beauty, a relevant authority shall have regard to the purpose of conserving and 

enhancing the natural beauty of the area of outstanding natural beauty’. That duty is another 

material consideration (as opposed to forming part of the development plan) but it has the 

force of statute and is of the utmost importance. 

Page 26



 

 

 
76. The PPG states that the s85 duty is particularly important to the delivery of the statutory 

purposes of protected areas and is relevant in considering development proposals that are 

situated outside of AONB boundaries, but which might have an impact on their setting or 

protection8. 

 
77. The PPG goes on to state: 

 
‘Land within the setting of these areas often makes an important contribution to 

maintaining their natural beauty, and where poorly located or designed development 

can do significant harm. This is especially the case where long views from or to the 

designated landscape are identified as important, or where the landscape character 

of land within and adjoining the designated area is complementary. Development 

within the settings of these areas will therefore need sensitive handling that takes 

these potential impacts into account.’9 

 
78. As noted, the application site is sensitive and valued as – especially if the extension to the 

SCH AONB is approved –  it is located between two AONB and immediately abuts the DV 

AONB on its western boundary and is within its immediate setting. 

 

79. The application is supported by a Landscape and Visual Assessment (“LVA”) which includes 

a “visual envelope” representation. The extent of visual influence posed by the 

development10 is also indicated to reach the western boundary of the current SCH AONB i.e. 

without its extended designation. If the Order for the SCH AONB extension is approved 

(which is considered likely) the application site would fall within its setting also. 

 
80. The Suffolk Landscape Character Assessment defines the majority of the site as being part 

of the Plateau Farmlands landscape character type (“LCT”) with sinuous lanes and hedge 

lines and plantation woodland as some of the key characteristics. A small area of the 

southern part of the site falls within the Rolling Valley Farmlands LCT. A key characteristic 

of that LCT is gentle valley sides, which the application site conveys. The Joint Babergh and 

Mid Suffolk District Council Landscape Guidance (2015) states that settlement pattern is a 

key sensitive element, and that the network of tree belts and patterns of small plantations 

found across much of the LCTs should be restored, maintained and enhanced. 

 
81. There is a degree of tranquillity experienced from the footpaths along the western site 

boundary and to the north. The site is also within the SCH AONB Project Area and is 

identified as part of the Estate Farmland landscape type. That part of the AONB project area 

                                                           
8 Natural Environment: Paragraph: 039 Reference ID: 8-039-20190721. 
9 Ibid. Paragraph: 042 Reference ID: 8-042-20190721. 
10 Visual influence is an indicator of potential intervisibility; it does not of itself suggest an effect in landscape terms. 

Page 27



 

 

is particularly quiet and undisturbed, being one of the special qualities for this landscape 

type. 

 
82. As a settlement Brantham is characterised by the “spine” of Brantham Hill where, apart from 

the strong linear grain of development along the western highway frontage, development is 

predominantly found to the east. The fields to the west of Brantham Hill therefore provide an 

important green buffer between the ribbon development along that spine road and the DV 

AONB; those fields not only contribute to the setting of the AONB but to the setting of the 

village also. 

 

Assessment 

 

83. The development represents a discordant projection into the open countryside and would 

pose significant urbanising effects on the landscape, principally owing to its sheer scale 

(4.3ha of residential development), its contrasting built character and its projection into the 

open countryside. 

  

84. It would result in the loss of predominantly undeveloped land that currently makes a very 

positive contribution to the intrinsic character and beauty of the landscape which serves as 

a setting both to the DV AONB and to the settlement of Brantham. The rural setting of this 

part of the western fringe of the village would be lost. The well-defined grain set by the 

Brantham Hill spine would also be lost, diluting the existing strong sense of place. 

 
85. Even with significant landscaping to the perimeter, the scale of development would result in 

an urban enclave bearing no visual relationship to much of the land that surrounds it. The 

development would not appear as a natural extension of the village, exacerbated by the 

absence of an established natural boundary to the south. 

 

86. The DF indicates that a large landscape buffer would be provided along the edges of the 

site, effectively enveloping the residential development. However, this would not successfully 

mitigate the adverse impacts that have been identified. The introduction of new green 

infrastructure if successful must be related to the existing landscape pattern.  The proposed 

woodland buffer appears to relate only to the proposed residential development, it does not 

appear to be well integrated. 

 
87. There will be a significant change in visual and experiential terms for users of the local 

PRoW/footpath network, in particular for users of Sandy Lane.  Recreational users currently 

enjoy tranquil and open countryside views over the site and beyond, which is integral to their 

outdoor experience. That experience will be transformed; the PRoWs would not be protected 

or enhanced by the development. 

 

Page 28



 

 

88. Due to the role of the landscape in providing as setting for both the DV AONB and the 

settlement of Brantham it is submitted that the landscape is a valued landscape with regard 

to NPPF para 170a.  Having regard to the nature, scale and location of what is proposed, it 

is considered that significant landscape (including visual/experiential amenity) and character 

harm is inescapable. Furthermore, it is not agreed that the scale and nature of the 

development is ‘relatively modest’ or that the landscape and visual harm ‘would be limited 

and localised in extent’ as stated in the LVA. The development would be contrary to policies 

CS11, CS14 and CS15 of the Core Strategy, and paragraphs 98, 127 and 170 of the NPPF. 

The harm identified is of notable significance. 

 

Highway Impacts: Access and Capacity (Policies CS11 and CS15) 

 

89. Policies CS11 and CS15 require (among other things) that the cumulative impacts of 

development are addressed satisfactorily and that where appropriate applications are 

supported by a transport assessment (“TA”) and/or travel plan (“TP”) in order to minimise 

infrastructural issues and reliance upon the private motor car. The Introduction to the Core 

Strategy also notes that traffic congestion is an important issue in some parts of the district11 

and anecdotal evidence points to particular concern about Brantham Hill as it relates to the 

local and strategic network and the pinch-points at the A137/B1070 roundabout and the 

Manningtree railway underpass. 

 

90. Paragraph 108 of the NPPF requires that when assessing planning applications it should be 

ensured that: 

 

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or 

have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; 

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and 

c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network(in terms 

of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively 

mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 

91. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused 

on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 

residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Paragraph 111 states that 

all developments that will generate significant amounts of movement should be required to 

provide a TP, and the application should be supported by a transport statement or TA so that 

the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed. 

 

92. Those three paragraphs should not be read in isolation from one another. Therefore, in 

appropriate circumstances both the development plan and the NPPF require an applicant to 

                                                           
11 §1.3.2 of the Core Strategy. 

Page 29



 

 

adduce reliable evidence so that a judgement can be reached as to the nature and 

magnitude of likely highway impacts, how such impacts could be mitigated (if required), and 

how as well as providing safe access, opportunities can be taken to promote more 

sustainable modes of travel. 

 
93. As a matter of planning judgement the scale and nature of the proposed development is such 

that a TA and TP is required; in that respect the Applicant has submitted both and it is plainly 

in their interest to provide the information necessary to enable a favourable decision to be 

made. 

 

94. However, as stated by the LHA the information supporting the application is deficient in a 

number of ways. Firstly, the access is not of a standard suitable to serve the scale of 

development proposed and from a highway of strategic importance. It has not been 

demonstrated that it would be safe and/or suitable for all users. 

 

95. Secondly, the TA does not provide sufficient information to determine the impacts that the 

development would pose upon the highway network, including at the A137/B1070 

roundabout and the level crossing/rail underpass. Bearing in mind the local concerns raised 

it is especially important that this be addressed as there is already a perception of significant 

highway problems without accounting for the application development. Without a suitably 

detailed and robust TA it has not been possible to determine whether residual cumulative 

impacts would be severe or what mitigation could be proposed to avoid such an outcome. 

 

96. Thirdly, the TP is not linked to the TA and is not appropriately specific to the development 

proposed, as vehicular impacts have not been adequately assessed. As the LHA state, no 

sustainable transport improvements have been proposed. 

 
97. Against a baseline that is perceived to be problematic, the introduction of significant further 

traffic requires a precautionary approach to ensure that severe impacts are avoided. A 

precautionary approach is required due to the risks posed; risks that the application has 

failed to adequately respond to. 

 
98. The application therefore fails to satisfy or meet the requirements of policies CS11 and CS15, 

as it cannot be ruled out that the development would pose severe impacts and the approach 

to minimising reliance upon the private motor car is unsatisfactory. With an access that is 

not safe or suitable for all users, the application also falls short of meeting the requirements 

of the NPPF, noting paragraphs 108, 109, and 111. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

Archaeology (Policies CS11 and CS15) 

 

99. Policies CS11 and CS15 seek to secure the preservation and/or enhancement of the historic 

environment and this includes assets of archaeological importance. Paragraph 189 of the 

NPPF states that where a development might affect assets of archaeological interest an 

applicant should be required to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where 

necessary, undertake a field evaluation. 

 

100. Great weight is given to the response of the SCC Archaeological Service, where it is 

considered that the site has very high archaeological potential and where it has not 

previously been the subject of systematic archaeological investigation there is high potential 

for previously unidentified archaeological remains to be present. The proposed development 

would cause significant ground disturbance that has the potential to damage or destroy any 

below ground heritage assets that exist. The Applicant has not provided an archaeological 

evaluation of the site. 

 
101. The proposed development risks harm to heritage assets in terms of archaeological interest, 

with particular regard to the risk that significant finds may be identified that would require 

preservation in situ, by reason of insufficient information being submitted to demonstrate that 

the archaeological impacts of the development have been appropriately assessed, 

considered and mitigated. As such the proposal is contrary to policies CS11 and CS15 of 

the development plan and paragraph 189 of the NPPF. 

 

Flood Risk (Policies CS11 and CS15) 

 

102. Policy CS11 requires applications to score positively against policy CS15. Policy CS15 

includes criteria applicable to considerations of flood risk and management, including the 

need to minimise surface water run-off and incorporate SuDS where appropriate. NPPF 

paragraph 163 requires that when determining planning applications, local planning 

authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Paragraph 165 of the 

NPPF states that Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems 

unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. 

 

103. In this instance, the site is wholly within Flood Zone 1, where there is a very low probability 

(less than 1 in 1000 annually) of river or sea (fluvial) flooding. The existing nature of the land 

and its use also means that there is presently considered to be a low risk of surface water 

(pluvial) flooding. However, the scale and nature of the development poses urbanising 

effects that would undoubtedly impact upon the way that the land copes with drainage and 

run-off. 

 
104. This is an outline application and therefore it is not appropriate to consider the detailed 

design of the drainage scheme or the specific requirements of that. As advised, the outline 

Page 31



 

 

application seeks to establish the acceptability of the principle of the development but the 

principle of the drainage system to be provided is, however, dependent on the nature of the 

ground conditions. Whilst the detailed design of the system is not necessary, a degree of 

confidence that such a scheme could be provided satisfactorily, is required. 

 
105. The LLFA has issued a “holding objection” because while the Applicant has provided an 

assessment of predicted flood risk, there is insufficient information regarding a strategy for 

the disposal of surface water and the required storage volume required of the system. 

 
106. The application fails, therefore, to adequately demonstrate that the development would not 

pose an adverse impact in relation to surface water run-off and incorporate sustainable 

drainage measures to accommodate the expected drainage impacts, contrary to policies 

CS11 and CS15 of the development plan and paragraphs 163 and 165 of the NPPF. 

 

Ecology (Policies CS11 and CS15) 

 

107. Policies CS11 and CS15 require applications to satisfactorily address environmental 

matters, which includes ecological considerations. Further, it is important that developments 

protect and enhance biodiversity. 

 

108. The NPPF echoes this objective at paragraph 8. Paragraph 170 states that planning 

decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural environment by minimising impacts 

on, and providing net gains for, biodiversity. Paragraph 175 states that planning permission 

should be refused for developments that pose significant harm to biodiversity (in the absence 

of avoidance, mitigation, or, as a last resort, compensatory measures). 

 
109. ODPM Circular 06/200512, which is referenced in the NPPF at footnote 56, states at 

paragraph 99: 

 
‘It is essential that the presence or otherwise of protected species, and the extent 

that they may be affected by the proposed development, is established before the 

planning permission is granted, otherwise all relevant material considerations may 

not have been addressed in making the decision. The need to ensure ecological 

surveys are carried out should therefore only be left to coverage under planning 

conditions in exceptional circumstances, with the result that the surveys are carried 

out after planning permission has been granted. However, bearing in mind the delay 

and cost that may be involved, developers should not be required to undertake 

surveys for protected species unless there is a reasonable likelihood of the species 

being present and affected by the development. Where this is the case, the survey 

should be completed and any necessary measures to protect the species should be 

in place, through conditions and/or planning obligations, before the permission is 

                                                           
12 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – Statutory Obligations and their impact within the Planning System (2005). 

Page 32



 

 

granted. In appropriate circumstances the permission may also impose a condition 

preventing the development from proceeding without the prior acquisition of a 

licence under the procedure set out in section C below.’ 

 

110. As with the highway, flooding, and archaeological matters discussed above a precautionary 

approach is considered to be appropriate in the absence of sufficient information being 

provided by the Applicant. This is because there is an unacceptable risk of significant harm 

being posed by the development; it is not appropriate – noting the Circular – to leave such 

matters until after permission has been granted as the Council cannot be confident that the 

development could proceed without such harm being caused. 

 

111. The Council’s appointed ecologist has still not been able to review the Great Crested Newt 

(“GCN”) survey report (as referenced in the submitted Ecological Appraisal) as it has not 

been submitted. The Council needs to understand the likely impacts of the development on 

GCN as a European Protected Species so that effective and appropriate mitigation can be 

secured; a GCN survey report with full results and recommendations for mitigation and 

enhancements needs to be submitted for assessment prior to determination of this 

application. 

 
112. It is not considered that the proposed compensation for loss of nesting habitat for ground 

nesting farmland birds such as Skylark is likely to be effective. Appropriate mitigation 

measures for Skylarks are therefore required. The Council’s ecologist states that unless the 

meadow can remain “out of bounds” during the breeding season under a long-term 

management plan, then off-site provision of nest plots within arable crops should be secured 

as a part of a farmland bird mitigation strategy. 

 
113. In summary, there is insufficient ecological information available to enable the application to 

be determined favourably and for the Council to demonstrate compliance with its statutory 

duties, including its biodiversity duty under s40 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act 200613. The proposal fails to adequately demonstrate that the development 

would not have an adverse impact on protected and/or priority species, contrary to policies 

CS11 and CS15 of the development plan and paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF. 

 
114. As submitted, the application is also predicted, without mitigation, to result in adverse effects 

on the integrity of the Stour and Orwell Estuaries Special Protection Area and Ramsar site 

and is identified in the in the Suffolk Coast Recreational disturbance Avoidance and 

Mitigation Scheme (RAMS). Policy CS15 states that any development that would have an 

adverse effect on the integrity of such sites will be refused.  Natural England requires further 

information in order to determine the significance of these impacts and the scope for 

                                                           
13 To have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of its functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity. 

Page 33



 

 

mitigation However, where the application is recommended for refusal it has not been 

necessary to consider this matter further. 

 

Other Matters 

 

Loss of Agricultural Land 

 

115. The Agricultural Land Classification (“ALC”) system classifies land into five grades (Grade 1: 

excellent, to Grade 5: very poor, inclusive), with Grade 3 subdivided into sub-Grades: 3a 

(good quality) and 3b (moderate quality). Best and Most Versatile (“BMV”) agricultural land 

is land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the ALC and it is important – in accordance with the NPPF 

(para. 170) and PPG14 – that the benefits of BMV land are recognised. 

 

116. It is axiomatic that the development of a greenfield, agricultural site poses an element of 

harm; however, it is tacitly envisaged by the policies of the development plan that such 

change can occur and there are no express policies for the protection of BMV land. 

 
117. The Parish Council identify that the site comprises Grade 3a but it is not known from where 

this information has been obtained. The strategic maps provided by Natural England would 

tend to support that assertion but are not intended to be relied upon for individual appraisals 

and Natural England do not object on the basis of BMV land impacts. Nevertheless, if 

adopting a cautious stance that the site is BMV land, the nature of the development  indicates 

that the loss of such land would be permanent. Therefore, development of the site would 

result in the permanent loss of approximately 9.36ha of BMV land, as a worst-case scenario. 

 
118. Defra/Natural England mapping indicates that within the Babergh area there is at least 

30,000ha of Grade 3 land. The loss of 9.36ha would therefore represent around 0.03% of all 

Grade 3 land within the District, which is considered to be a very modest amount in such a 

context. It is also the case that the great majority of land in the District is of a good quality or 

better, such that opportunities to locate poorer land that could accommodate the 

development are limited. 

 
119. Of itself the loss of agricultural land is not considered to be a justifiable reason for refusal of 

this application and there is no conflict with the development plan or NPPF in that respect. It 

is also considered unlikely that an approval of the development would lead to a frustration of 

adjacent farming operations and no evidence has been provided to demonstrate that this 

would be the case. 

 

 

 

                                                           
14 Natural Environment: Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 8-001-20190721. 

Page 34



 

 

Scheme Benefits 

 

120. It has already been set out that by law Members must have regard to material planning 

considerations and that this application should be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The benefits of the 

development must therefore be taken into account. 

 

121. The benefits of the proposed development principally extend to the provision of new housing 

(including a policy-compliant offer of 35% affordable housing). Of itself this is an important 

consideration as while the Council can demonstrate a five-year housing land supply such a 

requirement is a minimum target, and not a maximum threshold. However, there is clearly 

not a pressing requirement for the development and no evidence that it is needed when 

having regard to local circumstances and so this tempers the weight to be applied to that 

benefit. 

 
122. The Applicant points to the economic benefits to be derived from the development which 

includes construction spend/jobs, and stimulus through the future occupation of the 

development. These considerations also weigh in favour of the scheme albeit are intrinsically 

linked to the supply of housing proposed and do not provide specific justification for the 

development by themselves. 

 
123. The Applicant also highlights benefits that would accrue through the New Homes Bonus and 

collection of Council Tax payments. Whilst such considerations are positive they should be 

afforded little weight; the PPG is clear that it is not appropriate to make a decision based on 

the potential for the development to raise money for a local authority or other government 

body15. 

 
124. The development would also generate a return in terms of CIL receipts which is of itself is 

an economic benefit, albeit of limited weight. Whilst the primary purpose of the CIL is to 

mitigate the impact of new development, it would nevertheless allow for improvements to 

existing services and facilities that could result in wider public benefit. 

 
125. The proposed community facility/land is a benefit but is afforded limited weight as it is not 

precisely clear what use it is intended to serve or under what terms/mechanisms or likelihood 

such land will come forward and make a meaningful environmental, social or economic 

contribution to the locality or beyond. 

 
126. In the event that permission were granted (and notwithstanding the deficiencies of the 

application) it would be expected that the development would provide for policy-compliant 

measures including open space provision (indicated to be significantly above the 10% 

                                                           
15 Determining a Planning Application: Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 21b-011-20140612. 

Page 35



 

 

required by policy HS31), ecological/biodiversity enhancement, and travel planning 

measures. These benefits have also been factored into the planning balance. 

 

 

PART FIVE – CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

 

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

 

127. Decision taking begins with the development plan and it is of vital importance that planning 

decisions are plan-led. The NPPF, an important material consideration, reiterates this 

fundamental point. 

 

128. The circumstances of this application are not exceptional. Among other issues identified the 

development represents a discordant projection into open countryside and the immediate 

setting of the Dedham Vale AONB, undermining the way that it is experienced, at odds with 

a very clear and defined spatial grain and within a sensitive landscape context (considered 

to be a “valued landscape” with regard to the NPPF); it would be an unwelcome growth 

latched to the spine of Brantham. The Applicant has further failed to prove a justifiable need 

for the development having regard to local circumstances. The application chiefly conflicts 

with policies CS2, CS11, CS14, and CS15 which are among the most important policies for 

the determination of the application; it offends the development plan when taken as a whole. 

 
129. The application is deficient in a number of ways with insufficient information being provided 

in respect of highways, archaeology, surface water drainage, and ecology. The Council 

cannot be satisfied that the development would be acceptable in relation to those matters in 

the absence of appropriate detail. 

 
130. The Council can demonstrate that it has a five-year housing land supply and taken in the 

round its most important policies remain up to date. The application therefore cannot benefit 

from the “tilted balance” set out under policy CS1 and the NPPF. 

 
131. Assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole, the application performs no 

better. It would be contrary to the development plan and national planning policy and there 

are no material considerations that justify a departure from those policies; the harm that has 

been identified significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits. 

 
132. Members are therefore invited to refuse planning permission. 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That Members resolve to: 

(1) Refuse planning permission, for reasons including: 

 

i. The circumstances of the application and the proposed development are not 

exceptional and are without a proven justifiable need, contrary to policy CS2. The 

application fails to adequately demonstrate how the proposal responds to a 

locally identified housing need, contrary to policy CS11 and paragraph 77 of the 

NPPF, which requires development in rural areas to be responsive to local 

circumstances and reflect local needs. 

 

ii. The proposed development, by virtue of its scale, siting and location, would 

cause significant harm to the open countryside (considered to be a valued 

landscape) and the way that it is experienced within the immediate setting of an 

area of outstanding natural beauty and would fail to respect the local context and 

character, and the rural setting, of Brantham and its well-defined spatial grain, 

contrary to policies CS11, CS14 and CS15 of the development plan and 

paragraphs 98, 127, and 170 of the NPPF. 

 

iii. It is considered that insufficient information has been submitted to enable the 

local planning authority to confirm that the potential impacts of the proposed 

development on the local highway network would not be severe, in the terms set 

out at paragraph 109 of the NPPF, or the cumulative impacts satisfactory in 

accordance with policy CS11, and this includes identifying appropriate 

opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes (contrary to those 

requirements, policy CS15, and paragraph 108 of the NPPF). In the absence of 

adequate information to accurately forecast potential impact, it is not considered 

possible to design and deliver suitable highways/transport mitigation nor, 

consequently, to confirm that the proposal would be acceptable in terms of 

highway effects. Furthermore, the application does not demonstrate that safe 

and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, contrary to 

paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF. 

 
iv. The proposed development risks harm to heritage assets in terms of 

archaeological interest, with particular regard to the risk that significant finds may 

be identified that would require preservation in situ, by reason of insufficient 

information being submitted to demonstrate that the archaeological impacts of 

the development have been appropriately assessed, considered and mitigated. 

As such the proposal is contrary to policies CS11 and CS15 of the development 

plan and paragraph 189 of the NPPF. 

Page 37



 

 

 
v. The application fails to adequately demonstrate that the development would not 

pose an adverse impact in relation to surface water run-off and incorporate 

sustainable drainage measures to accommodate the expected drainage impacts, 

contrary to policies CS11 and CS15 of the development plan and paragraphs 

163 and 165 of the NPPF. 

 

vi. The proposal fails to adequately demonstrate that the development would not 

have an adverse impact on protected and/or priority species, contrary to policies 

CS11 and CS15 of the development plan and paragraphs 170 and 175 of the 

NPPF. 

 

The development conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole and there 

are no material considerations which indicate that a decision should be taken other than 

in accordance with the development plan. 

 

(2) In the event that an appeal against the refusal of planning permission is received, 

delegate authority to the Chief Planning Officer to defend that appeal for the reasons 

set out under (1) above, being amended and/or varied as may be required. 

Page 38



Application No: DC/19/04105 

Parish: Brantham 

Location: Land West Of Brantham Hill 

  

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Committee Report    

Ward: Lavenham 

Ward Members: Cllr Clive Arthey and Cllr Margaret Maybury 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION – APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS 

 

 

Description of Development 

Submission of Reserved Matters details for outline planning permission DC/17/03100 

(Appearance, Scale, Layout and Landscaping) and details for Conditions 5, 6, 9, 10, 13 and 14 

for 25 dwellings 

 

Location  

Land south of Howlett of Lavenham, Melford Road, Lavenham, Suffolk, CO10 9SG 

  

Parish: Lavenham 

Expiry Date: 05.11.2019 

Application Type: Reserved Matters  

Development Type: Housing 

Applicant: Hopkins & Moore (Developments) Limited 

Agent: NA  

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason: 
 
It is a ‘Major’ application for: 
 
- a residential development for 15 or more dwellings. 
 
 
Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit 

 

None. 

 
 

PART TWO – POILCIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY 
 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 

 

Item 6B Reference: DC/19/03185 
Case Officer: Jack Wilkinson  

Page 41

Agenda Item 6b



 
 
 

Babergh Core Strategy (2014): 

CS1 - Applying the Presumption in favour of sustainable development in Babergh  

CS2 - Settlement Pattern Policy  

CS3 - Strategy for Growth and Development  

CS11 - Strategy for Development for Core and Hinterland Villages  

CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh  

CS18 - Mix and Types of Dwellings  

CS19 - Affordable Homes  

CS21 - Infrastructure Provision  

  

Babergh Local Plan Alteration No.2 (2006): 

CN04 - Design and Crime Prevention 

CR07 - Landscaping Schemes 

CR08 - Hedgerows 

CS19 - Affordable Homes  

CS18 - Mix and Types of Dwellings  

CN01 - Design Standards  

CS01 - Applying the presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development in Babergh  

CS02 - Settlement Pattern Policy  

CS03 - Strategy for Growth and Development  

CS11 - Core and Hinterland Villages  

CS15 - Implementing Sustainable Development  

TP15 - Parking Standards – New Development 

 

Lavenham Neighbourhood Plan (2016): 

Policy H4: Allocation of Affordable Housing 

Policy H3: Affordable Housing 

Policy H2: Housing Mix –meeting local needs 

Policy D1: Design and Character 

Policy D2: High Quality Design 

Policy C8: Connectivity 

 

Supplementary Planning Documents: 

Suffolk Adopted Parking Standards (2015)  

Affordable Housing (2014) 

Suffolk Design Guide (2000) 
 
Planning History 

 

DC/17/03100 - outline planning application (means of access to be considered only) - erection of 25 
dwellings with vehicular access onto Melford Road – approved 16 January 2018.   A Section 106 
Agreement was agreed by the parties on 12 January 2018 obligating the owner to: 
 

 provide eight affordable units 

 not to occupy more than eight market housing units until the affordable units have been constructed 
and made ready for residential occupation and all affordable units transferred to a Registered 
Provider  

 not to commence development until an Open Space Scheme has been submitted.  

Page 42



 
 
 

 not allow occupation of the final Dwelling until the Open Space has been provided and laid out in 
accordance with the approved Open Space Scheme  

 retain and maintain the open space in accordance with the Open Space Scheme and the Planning 
Permission for public benefit  

 maintain and manage the Open Space strictly in accordance with the Open Space Scheme. 
 
Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application consultation and representations from third parties have been received 
as follows.   
 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Lavenham Parish Council  
Objection. The concentration of Affordable and Social Housing in cul-de-sac configurations does not assist 
an inclusive or coherent approach. Elsewhere in Babergh, the pepper-pot approach to spreading these 
dwellings around the site is more common and is designed to be more successful in bringing about social 
inclusion. The Royal Town Planning Institute and the Chartered Institute of Housing support the aims and 
are working together to ensure that cross-professional co-operations are at the heart of such successful 
planning for housing and the delivery of more and better housing in the right location and configuration. 
The Parish Council is disappointed these much respected organisations ideas on good practice are not 
being implemented on this development. 
  
The building elevations are not sympathetic to either the Lavenham variety or vernacular, which suggests 
that the NPPF 2019, and particularly Chapter 12, have not made the intended impact on the design, nor 
has reference been made to the relevant pages on style in the Lavenham Neighbourhood Plan. 
  
The environmental impact of the adjacent Howett’s site and works on the new housing development area 
has been avoided once more. We feel that full environmental evaluation could have an impact on the site 
layout and the number of dwellings. 
  
Recommendation - Refusal, as incomplete. 
  
Rider: The Parish Council cannot completely approve the Application until all Conditions have been 
submitted, and possibly the opportunity taken to revisit earlier parts of the Application. We ask that Babergh 
District Council Planning considers this matter also. 
  
The Parish Council is in agreement with the views expressed in the Environmental Protection Team’s 
Memorandum submitted by Joanna Hart. 
 
Officers acknowledge the concerns raised by the Parish. 
 
Place Services – Ecology  
No objection. We have reassessed the Ecological Survey report (MHE Consulting Ltd, October 2017), 
relating to the likely impacts of the development on designated sites, protected species and priority species 
/ habitat. We have also reviewed the submitted Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals (Elwood Landscape 
Design, June 2019).   
  
We are satisfied that sufficient information has been supplied to meet the requirements of both Condition 
9 and 14.   
  
The Soft Landscape Proposals contains a suitable level of detail and appropriate ecological enhancement 
recommendations, which will ensure that the application will deliver a net gain for biodiversity.  However, 

Page 43



 
 
 

we request that mitigation measures contained within Ecological Survey report (MHE Consulting Ltd, 
October 2017) should still be implemented in full for this application. Therefore, the mitigation measures 
contained within the report should still be secured within the decision notice for this application, to ensure 
that the mitigation measures are appropriately implemented. 
Officers acknowledge the acceptable nature of the scheme in ecological terms. 
 
Place Services - Landscape 
No objection. Condition 13; action required prior to commencement of development: Landscaping Scheme. 
The submitted landscape scheme is thorough and includes the suitable level of detail to discharge this 
condition.  
  
Condition 14; action required in accordance with a specific timetable: Landscaping details required. The 
submitted landscape scheme is thorough and includes the suitable level of detail to discharge this 
condition. 
 
Anglian Water 
No objection. 
Water recycling centre – Lavenham. 
Water recycling centre capacity – Yes.   
Is there foul water capacity in network – Yes.  
We have reviewed the applicant’s submitted foul drainage strategy and flood risk documentation and 
consider that the impacts on the public foul sewerage network are acceptable to Anglian Water at this 
stage. We request that we are consulted on any forthcoming application to discharge Condition 25 of the 
outline planning application DC/17/03100, to which this Reserved Matters application relates, that require 
the submission and approval of detailed foul drainage information.  
  
Surface Water Strategy  
We have reviewed the applicant’s submitted surface water drainage information and have found that the 
proposed method of surface water discharge does not relate to an Anglian Water owned asset. As such, it 
is outside of our jurisdiction and we are unable to provide comments on the suitability of the surface water 
discharge. 
 
BMSDC – Communities  
No objection. It is questionable whether the location of the development warrants a more developed open 
space i.e. including some form of play equipment. This should be a local decision determined by the Parish 
Council in regard to their approach to play provision within the village. Officers acknowledge the comments 
expressed however this was not an aspect secured at outline stage. 
 
BMSDC Public Realm 
No objection. The Public Realm team note that the public open space is largely a landscaping strip at the 
edge of the properties and serves only the properties on this development. I would expect a local solution 
to be put in place for the future management of the landscape areas rather than expect the Local Authority 
to adopt this area in the future. 
 
BMSDC Affordable Housing 
No objection. The applicant in making the Reserved Matters application has taken account of my comments 
made at the outline application stage in 2017.  
  
The mix for the affordable homes proposed is for:  
Affordable Rented = 6   
2 x 1 bed 2-person houses @ 58.62 sqm   
4 x 2bed 4-person houses @ 79.8 sqm  
  
Shared Ownership = 2  

Page 44



 
 
 

1 x 2 bed 4-person house @81.56 sqm  
1 x 3 bed 5-person house @ 93.83 sqm  
  
The layout does locate the affordable units all in one cul-de-sac separated away from the open market 
homes so it will be easy to spot which the affordable homes will be (plots 13 - 20 inclusive) with plots 18 
and 20 being the shared ownership dwellings. I would be seeking reassurances that if permission is granted 
that upon receipt of the reserved matters that the applicant guarantees that the construction materials will 
create a tenure blind appearance. I would have wanted to see a better integration of the affordable homes 
across the site to encourage a more balanced development instead of the somewhat contrived separation 
in the far corner of the site. 
 
Open market mix: 
With the ageing population in Lavenham and across Babergh District it is very disappointing not to see the 
inclusion of any bungalows or chalet bungalows in the mix as this would enable some of the existing older 
people to consider downsizing to more suitable accommodation. However, the inclusion of 2 and 3 bed 
private dwellings is to be welcomed. 
 
Officers acknowledge the clustered nature of the AH units, however given the size of the development, 
there is little before Officers to suggest the AH units should be more sparsely spread. 
 
Environmental Health - Land Contamination 
No objection.   
 
Environmental Health – Sustainability 
It is acknowledged that the application is for outline permission but considering the number of dwellings 
proposed some consideration of this topic area is expected. This council is keen to encourage 
consideration of sustainability issues at an early stage so that the most environmentally friendly buildings 
are constructed and the inclusion of sustainable techniques, materials, technology etc can be incorporated 
into the scheme without compromising the overall viability.  
  
Therefore we request a condition to address the above.   
 
Clear commitments and minimum standards should be declared and phrases such as ‘where possible, 
subject to, where feasible’ must not be used. Evidence should be included where appropriate 
demonstrating the applicants previous good work and standards achieved in areas such as site waste 
management, e.g. what recycling rate has the applicant achieved in recent projects to show that their % 
recycling rate commitment is likely. 
 
Officers acknowledge the comments raised and consider that the scheme responds well to the essence of 
national planning policy. The reserved matters are already set through the eyes of the outline scheme 
approved. It would appear that the consultee has misunderstood the reserved matters nature of the 
application.   
 
OFFICER COMMENT – The application is NOT for Outline permission, but for Reserved Matters.  This is 
discussed in the relevant section below. 
 
 
Environmental Health  
No objection. The Assessment identifies that the noise on site is dominated by traffic noise from Sudbury 
Road and Melford Road, both of which border the site.  
 
In terms of external areas, the assessment recommends that gardens should have a 1.8m close boarded 
fence in order to ensure that noise levels in external amenity areas are below BS8233 guideline vales. I 

Page 45



 
 
 

note this is proposed in the detailed soft landscaping proposals plan (produced by ELD, dated 04.06.19, 
drawing no HOPK 428/30-002) layout, and would recommend that this be required by means of condition.  
 
In terms of internal areas, the Assessment identifies that it would not be possible to open bedroom windows 
facing the roads at night without exceeding both BS8233 guideline values and Who guideline values for 
Lmax short-lived events (such as vehicle passbys). Therefore, it is recommended that bedrooms facing 
roads be fitted with standard thermal double glazing with an attenuation rating of 30dBRW or more, in 
conjunction with acoustic trickle ventilators with an attenuation rating of 35dB Dnnw or higher. I would 
recommend that this also be required by means of condition.  
 
The assessment considers noise from the Howlett garage and concludes that during the monitoring period 
these were not significant, although audible – section 2.19 states that as the dominant noise on site is road 
traffic there was ‘insufficient noise from the Howlett site to enable a meaningful assessment using the 
guidance in BS 4142’.  However, the assessment acknowledges that “there may be occasions during the 
workday when noisier activities may occur although these are unlikely to be particularly prolonged”. This 
therefore is a subjective decision – I do however note that in the case of plots 1-3 sensitive living areas 
(lounge) are located at the front of the property and thus further away from the garage. You may wish to 
suggest that the developer re-orientate the layout of the ground floors of plots 13-17 for the same reason. 
I understand that Howlett’s garage submitted a letter in response to the original application, in which they 
state that they operate on a 7-day basis including late night working – in light of this, and informed by 
knowledge of any planning restrictions on the garage site, you may wish to consider requiring the above 
specified glazing to rear bedroom windows of plots 1-3, and 13- 16 in order to provide enhanced acoustic 
protection in the event of such working. 
 
OFFICER COMMENT - Officers concur with the EHO findings and resolve to impose condition(s) as 
suggested. 
 
SCC Flood and Water 
No objection. Suffolk County Council, Flood and Water Management have reviewed application and 
recommend approval to discharge condition 5 and 6. The scheme shall be fully implemented as approved. 
 
SCC Strategic Development 
No objection. The County Council previously set out the infrastructure implications in the consultation 
response letter dated 09 October 2017 in respect of reference DC/17/03100, which will form the basis of a 
future CIL funding bid. 
 
SCC Highways 
No objection. SCC Highways do not object to the proposal subject to conditions relating to details of access 
and associated works, manoeuvring and parking, electric charging points, and refuse / recycling points.  
 
Natural England 
No comments. 
 
 
B: Representations 
 
None received. 
 
 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
 

Page 46



 
 
 

1.0 The Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The application site is located on the eastern side of Melford Road, on the southern fringe of 
Lavenham.  The site is immediately south of Howletts garage, a car repair workshop and car sales 
showroom. 
 

1.2 To the south of the application site is a single house on the Sudbury Road, agricultural land and a 
large group of homes on Melford Road. The southern site boundary is marked by a line of mature 
trees. To the east are homes fronting Sudbury Road and a hedge forming a field boundary. The 
eastern site boundary is lined with a roadside hedge, which is protected. To the west of the site is a 
high hedge on the opposite side of the road, with agricultural land beyond. The western site boundary 
is marked by an overgrown hedge. 

 
1.3 The application site itself is grass and encroaching scrub. A footpath on the opposite side of Melford 

Road connects residential properties to the south west with the centre of Lavenham. The Melford 
Road in the vicinity of the site is within a 30mph zone. At the nearby junction of Melford and Sudbury 
Road are bus stops. These are within 200m metres of the site. 

 
1.4 The development is not located either adjacent or opposite any listed buildings and the site is not 

located within a Conservation Area. The site is in Flood Zone 1. 
 
2.0     The Proposal 

 
2.1  Outline planning permission has been granted for up to 25 dwellings, including means of access.  

Approval of reserved matters in respect to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are now 
sought. 
 

2.2 The outline approval included means of vehicle access.  Vehicle access is therefore not considered 
further in this report. 

 
2.3 Key elements of the development are as follows: 
 

 Eight affordable units (35% provision) provided in a cluster at the north-eastern corner of the 
site.  

 Double storey dwellings with one single storey unit, including detached, semi-detached and 
terraced properties, with single level detached garaging.      

 The dwellings are set around a cul-de-sac type arrangement with single vehicle access provided 
via Melford Road.   

 The architectural response comprises a traditional vernacular. 

 Retention of hedgerow and trees at site boundaries. 

 Landscaped open space corridor provided along the site’s southern boundary.  

 3m wide landscape buffer provided to the northern boundary.  

 Proposed footpath extends along the Melford Road frontage.  
 

 
3.0 The Principle of Development 

 
3.1 The principle of development has been established by grant of outline planning permission 

DC/17/03100. The key test is whether the proposed appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of 
development responds appropriately to the character and amenity of the area, having regard to 
relevant guiding development plan policies, including the Lavenham Neighbourhood Plan (LNP). 
Considerations also include housing mix and affordable housing provision and layout. 

 

Page 47



 
 
 

4.0     Nearby Services and Connections Assessment of Proposal 
 
4.1    This matter was dealt with at Outline. 
 
 
4.0     Site Access, Parking And Highway Safety Considerations 

 
5.1   Site access / egress has been established by the grant of outline planning permission DC/17/03100. 

 
5.2   On-site parking provision is standard compliant. 
 
 
5.0   Design And Layout [Impact on Streetscene] 

 
6.1   The development layout is generally consistent with the indicative layout considered at the time of 

the outline application. A cul-de-sac type arrangement is typical of developments of this scale and 
noteworthy are the similar type arrangements in the village, including Butfield, The Glebe, Tenter 
Piece and Green Willows. 

 
6.2 LNP Policy D2 calls for high quality design in new development. This includes incorporating safe 

and attractive pedestrian and cycling routes, low speed streets with plenty of trees and planting to 
limit the visual impact of parked cars. Car parking will not dominate the streetscape because 
garaging is mostly set well back from the internal streets. The cul-de-sac arrangement means 
vehicle speeds will be moderated and the footpath on the western side of Melford Road provides a 
pedestrian link to the village. The response to LNP Policy D2 is generally good. 
 

6.3 The development comprises two-storey dwellings with, in the main, single-storey detached 
garaging. The prevailing scale of development to the south, on the western side of Melford Road, 
is two- storey.  Likewise, dwellings to the north of the site that front the B1071, and those in Butfield 
and The Glebe, are also two-storey. These observations suggest the proposed development scale 
is consistent with the village character. 
 

6.4 Whilst the scheme does only provide one single storey dwelling, this does not result in serious 
character harm given the prevailing character of the village. The scheme is technically in 
accordance with Policy CS15(xvi). It also runs ‘in step’ LNP Policy D2 which states that development 

needs to consider the specific needs of different groups in the community such as older people and 
applying the principles of a ‘lifetime neighbourhood’. 
 

6.5 There is some flexibility regarding the appearance of the scheme given the site’s significant distance 
from Lavenham’s historic core, the Lavenham Conservation Area, the Special Landscape Area on 
the village’s eastern fringe and the absence of nearby designated heritage assets. The architectural 
language adopted across the development responds positively to the character of the area. Design 
elements are traditional and commonplace across Suffolk. The internal streetscapes will be visually 
attractive, add to the overall built form quality of the area and establish an appropriate sense of 
place for future residents. 

 
6.6 On the whole the choice of materials and the traditional form and profiles of the dwellings are such 

that the development’s appearance is deemed acceptable, consistent with the aspirations of the 
LNP, the Core Strategy and national design policy. 
 

6.7 LNP Policy D1 states that applicants for major development proposals are required to actively 
engage in consultation with the Parish Council and the community, via the provision of a 
development brief, as part of the design process prior to any application being submitted.  In 

Page 48



 
 
 

response the applicant notes that they met with members of the Parish Council in February and 
tabled an earlier layout for discussion and feedback, whilst also providing the Parish Council with a 
complete set of the current proposals ahead of formal submission. The applicant is of the view that 
at the February meeting, members of the Parish Council appeared generally content with the overall 
form, scale, design and layout of the proposal.    

 
7.0 Landscape Impact, Trees, Ecology, Biodiversity And Protected Species 

 
7.1 The layout includes a landscaped green corridor at the site’s southern boundary, featuring the 

retention of the mature vegetation along this boundary linking to the protected hedgerow east of the 
site.  This, and the retention of the northern hedgerows at the site perimeter, are appropriate 
landscape responses that will enhance the setting of the development and result in a sympathetic 
transition to the open countryside beyond.  This is the significant landscape benefit of an 
internalised road layout, and one that responds positively to LNP Policy D2, which encourages 
development that avoids hard edges directly into open farmland.  The retention of hedgerows and 
complementary landscaping at the site’s fringes is also consistent with LNP Policy D1, which 
expects new development to ‘retain and enhance vegetated boundaries as much as possible, 
particularly those of intact hedgerows and trees.’ 

 
7.2 In respect to the landscape planting detail, The council’s Landscape Consultant describes the 

landscaping scheme as ‘thorough’ and sufficient to discharge the landscaping conditions attached 
to the Outline permission.  Biodiversity considerations are adequately addressed by conditions (9 
and 14) on the Outline permission and need not be assessed as part of this application. 
 

7.3 The desire of the Council’s Public Realm Officer to ensure the open space does not subsequently 
become the responsibility of the Council is noted and already addressed by the s106 agreement 
executed as part of the outline permission.    

 
8.0      Land Contamination, Flood Risk, Drainage and Waste 

 
8.1 The site is not located in a vulnerable flood zone area; therefore the risks of flooding are considered   

to be low. Nonetheless, the Lead Local Flood Authority (LFA) were consulted as part of the 
consultation process. 
 

8.2 Infiltration rate testing has been performed and the site is deemed to be sufficient for housing. The 
surface water run off onto the highway has been assessed by the LHA, and Officers concur with LFA 
findings insofar as the sites sealed surfaces could be adequately managed. The scheme does not 
present concern in this regard, and there is little before Officers to suggest a flood and water 
compliant scheme could not be delivered, and that conditions 5 and 6 can be discharged. 

 
9.0 Heritage Issues [Including the Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Conservation 

Area and on the Setting of Neighbouring Listed Buildings] 
 
9.1      No issues.  

 
10.0 Impact On Residential Amenity 
 
10.1 The layout has been designed in a manner that nine rear gardens lie adjacent to the common 

boundary with the garage, noting the proximity of the garage workshop to the site’s northern 
boundary.  This is not considered a site responsive design, and there appears to be no compelling 
reason why the layout could not be designed in a manner that significantly reduces the number of 
private gardens set adjacent the garage site, which in turn would significantly limit the potential for 
reverse sensitivity complaints from residents. 

Page 49



 
 
 

 
10.2 The above said, the layout incorporates a 3-metre wide landscaped buffer, provided in order to 

mitigate the potential adverse impacts of the garage on the residential amenity of the development. 
The applicant has also submitted a Noise Assessment Report which assessed noise levels at two 
locations in proximity to the northern site boundaries in 2017, during which the doors to the repair 
bays of the garage workshop were open. The Report states that the principal noise affecting the 
site related to road traffic and that there were insufficient noise levels from the garage to enable a 
meaningful assessment to be undertaken using the guidance in BS 4142.  The noise evidence, 
coupled with the proposed 3m landscaped amenity buffer, suggest that the northern amenity 
interface will be acceptable. 
 

10.3 The EH Officer raises concern regarding the potential for light spill from the garage onto future 
residential properties. The applicant contends that the distances involved and orientation of the 
lighting should be able to ensure that any disturbance to future occupants is minimised. Officers 
agree. 
 

10.4 The neighbouring southern dwelling is set sufficiently away from the development so as to ensure an 
appropriate residential amenity interface is provided.  It is noted that the proposal has not attracted 
any residential amenity based objections. 

 
11.0 Planning Obligations / CIL (delete if not applicable) 
 
11.1 The affordable housing cluster is acceptable given the modest number of dwellings involved. The 

Strategic Housing Officer raises no objection. 
 

11.2 The housing mix provides for predominantly two and three bedroom houses, consistent with the 
identified local need, well integrated with three and four bedroom properties. 

 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
12.0 Planning Balance And Conclusion 
 
12.1 The principle of the 25 dwelling development is established by the grant of outline planning 

permission DC/17/03100. The quantum of development accords with the outline approval. 
 

12.2 There are elements of the scheme that are endorsed by Officers, which include: the retention of 
hedgerows, incorporation of northern and southern landscape buffers, adoption of traditional 
vernacular, standard compliant affordable housing provision, and a good mix of predominantly two 
and three bedroom dwellings which respond to local housing need. The design emphasis is 
welcomed, resulting in a visually attractive scheme with good social, economic and environmental 
benefits.  

 
12.3 On the whole, the details submitted in support of the reserved matters application are deemed 

acceptable, notwithstanding some local policy conflicts. The reserved matters are recommended for 
approval.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
(1) That the Corporate Manager- Planning for Growth be authorised to approve reserved matters of 

appearance, layout, scale and landscaping subject to conditions: 
 

1. Withdrawal PD rights 

Page 50



 
 
 

2. Noise attenuation 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Application No: DC/19/03185 

Parish: Lavenham 

Location: Land South Of Howlett Of Lavenham, Melford Road 

  

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

DCCommittee Report   

Ward: Sudbury North East 

Ward Member: Cllr Alison Owen 

    

RECOMMENDATION – PLANNING PERMISSION WITH CONDITIONS 

 

Description of Development 

Planning application - change of use and conversion of common room facility and warden’s 

living accommodation to a homeless persons accommodation with eight bedsits (Sui Generis) 

 

Location 

The Firs Waldingfield Road Sudbury Suffolk CO10 2PY 

 

Expiry Date: 23.10.2019 

Application Type: Full Planning Application 

Development Type: Small-scale Residential 

Applicant: Babergh District Council 

Agent: Mr R. Atkinson, Babergh District Council 

 

Parish: Sudbury  

Site Area: 418sqm 

 

Details of Previous Committee / Resolutions and any member site visit: None 

Has a Committee Call In request been received from a Council Member (Appendix 1):  

Has the application been subject to Pre-Application Advice: No 

 
 

PART ONE – REASON FOR REFERENCE TO COMMITTEE 
 

 
The application is referred to committee for the following reason/s: 
 
The applicant is Babergh District Council. 
 
 

PART TWO – POLICIES AND CONSULTATION SUMMARY  
 

 
Summary of Policies 
 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework  

Babergh Core Strategy 2014: 

CS1 Applying the Presumption in favour of sustainable development in Babergh  

CS15 Implementing Sustainable Development in Babergh  

CS18 Mix and Types of Dwellings  

Item No:  Reference:  DC/19/03614 
Case Officer: Lynda Bacon  

Page 55

Agenda Item 6c



 
 
 

 

Babergh Local Plan 2006: 

CN01 Design Standards 

TP15 Parking Standards – New Development 

 

Neighbourhood Plan Status 

 

This application site is not within a Neighbourhood Plan Area.   

 
Consultations and Representations 
 
During the course of the application consultation and representations from third parties have been 
received. These are summarised below. 
 
A: Summary of Consultations 
 
Town/Parish Council 
 
Sudbury Town Council  
Approve.  
 
County Council Responses 
 
SCC Highways   
No objection subject to cycle provision condition. 
 
Internal Consultee Responses 
 
BMSDC Environmental Health - Private Sector Housing 
No objection. 
 
BMSDC Environmental Health - Noise/Odour/Light/Smoke 
No objection. 
 

 
 
B: Representations 
 
At the time of writing this report no submissions had been received.  
 
 
 

PART THREE – ASSESSMENT OF APPLICATION  
 

 
1.0 The Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1 The site is located on the northern side of Waldingfield Road within the built-up area boundary of 

Sudbury. The site is occupied by a two- storey building that was formerly in use as a common room 
facility and warden’s living accommodation. To the rear is a domestic garden area.  A row of six 
attached single garages is immediately southwest of the site.  The site is surrounded by residential 
development.    The site is not in a Conservation Area and remote from any designated heritage 
assets.   

Page 56



 
 
 

 
2.0  The Proposal 
 
2.1  The application seeks planning permission for a change of use of the building in to eight bedsits to 

house homeless persons.  The accommodation is to be controlled and maintained by the Council.   
 
2.2 Five bedsits are proposed at ground-floor level and three at first- floor.  Shared kitchen and laundry 

facilities are at ground level.  External alterations are minor, comprising fenestration changes at 
ground-floor level only.   

 
3. 0 The Principle of Development 
 
3.1  The building was originally constructed and used for residential purposes, comprising a detached 

two-storey dwelling.  The site appears as conventional residential development, set within an 
established domestic streetscape.  The proposed residential use is consistent with the historic use 
of the building as well as neighbouring development.        

 
3.2 The Core Strategy observes that different groups of people and individual communities have 

particular demands and, often, urgent needs for different accommodation.  A key thrust of the Core 
Strategy, reflecting the overarching social dimension of the NPPF, is to provide ‘homes for all’.   

 
3.3 The provision of eight bedsits for homeless persons in an established residential area, with local 

amenities and services accessible by foot and public transport, represents a significant social 
benefit consistent with local and national housing policies.   

 
4.0 Nearby Services and Connections Assessment of Proposal 
 
4.1 Whilst near the edge of Sudbury, the site is well-connected to the facilities of that town. 
 
5.0 Site Access, Parking and Highway Safety Considerations 
 
5.1 Given the nature of the persons who will occupy the bedsits, on-site carparking is not required.  

There is ample space to store cycles on the site and a condition is not necessary in this regard.  
Highway safety is unaffected by the proposal. 

 
6.0 Design and Layout [Impact on Street Scene]  
 
6.1 The proposed fenestration changes at ground floor level are near negligible and are finished in 

materials to match existing.  The domestic appearance of the site is retained. The external 
alterations will not adversely impact the character of the area.   

 
7.0 Landscape Impact, Trees, Ecology, Biodiversity and Protected Species  
 
7.1 No issues. 
 
8.0 Land Contamination, Flood Risk, Drainage and Waste 
 
8.1 No issues 
 
9.0 Heritage Issues [Including the Impact on the Character and Appearance of the 

Conservation Area and on the Setting of Neighbouring Listed Buildings]  
 
9.1 No issues. 

Page 57



 
 
 

 
10.0 Residential Amenity  
 
10.1 The residential amenity of the area will not be unduly impacted either by the external physical works 

or the proposed residential use, primarily because they are limited to ground level only and are 
cosmetic in nature.  The absence of objections from neighbouring residents is noted.  

 
10.2 Internal amenity for the future occupants is satisfactory, noting the generous rear yard to serve as 

outdoor amenity space and all but one of the bedsits complies with HMO minimum space standards 
(although not strictly applicable the standards serve as a useful reference tool for assessment 
purposes).  The non-compliant bedsit is only fractionally smaller (0.25sqm) than the minimum space 
standard.  Noteworthy is an absence of objection from BMSDC Private Sector Housing.   

 
11.0 Planning Obligations/CIL 
 
11.1 n/a 
 
 
 

PART FOUR – CONCLUSION  
 

 
 
12.0  Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
12.1 The provision of accommodation for homeless persons, clearly a community group in need of local 

housing, in a sustainable location such as that proposed represents a significant social benefit to 
which significant weight is attached.   

 
12.2 The housing is provided in a manner that does not adversely affect the character or amenity of the 

area.  The former dwelling is very well-suited to a conversion to bedsits, with only modest external 
changes required to facilitate the proposed use.  The former dwelling provides excellent internal 
amenity for future occupants in a location well served by local amenities.   

 
12.3 The proposal furthers local and national housing policies, comprises sustainable development 

which will deliver a significant social benefit and is therefore recommended for approval.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the application is GRANTED planning permission and includes the following conditions:- 

 

1. ACTION REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH A SPECIFIC TIMETABLE: COMMENCEMENT 

TIME LIMIT   

The development hereby permitted shall be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.   

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 

2. APPROVED PLANS & DOCUMENTS 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

drawings/documents listed under Section A above and/or such other drawings/documents as may 

be approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing pursuant to other conditions of this 

Page 58



 
 
 

permission or such drawings/documents as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority as a non-material amendment following an application in that regard. 

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning of the development. 

 

3. CYCLE PARKING PROVISION 

To be provided prior to occupation and to be retained at all times.   

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Application No: DC/19/03614 

Parish: Sudbury 

Location: The Firs, Waldingfield Road 

  

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 PL/19/19  PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION BY THE COMMITTEE
	6a DC/19/04105 LAND WEST OF BRANTHAM HILL, BRANTHAM, CO11 1ST
	DC/19/04105 Land west of Brantham Hill, Brantham, CO11 1ST - Committee Insert Plan

	6b DC/19/03185 LAND SOUTH OF HOWLETT OF LAVENHAM, MELFORD ROAD, LAVENHAM, SUFFOLK, CO10 9SG
	DC/19/03185 - Land South Of Howlett Of Lavenham, Melford Road, Lavenham, Suffolk, CO10 9SG - Committee Insert Plan

	6c DC/19/03614 THE FIRS, WALDINGFIELD ROAD, SUDBURY, SUFFOLK, CO10 2PY
	DC/19/03614 The Firs, Waldingfield Road, Sudbury, CO10 2PY - Committee Insert Plan


